
This paper is concerned with Beechgrove House, Clonakilty, which succumbed 
to a fire in June 2017 (Fig. 1).1 Located in the townland of Tawnies Lower, just 
west of the town, the house has been dated to 1887 on the basis of an inscribed 
date plaque to the rear of the building.2 It seems to have been erected on 
the site of an earlier dwelling named ‘Lower Tawnies Cottage’. This paper 
explores the architectural chronology of the two buildings and surrounding 
estate, and investigates the social history of its occupants. 

The early history of the estate is intertwined with that of Rev. Henry 
Wilson Stewart (c. 1773–1857). Stewart was the son of Henry Stewart of Co. 
Meath and Jane Walsh of Ardagh House, Co. Louth. He was ordained a deacon 
of the Church of Ireland in 1795 and a priest at Cork in 1797. Stewart also held 
an L.L.D (doctorate of law).3 It seems that his relationship with West Cork 
began in the first decade of the nineteenth century. In 1807, Stewart became 
curate of Kilnagross and Templequinlan.4 However, there was an earlier 
Stewart family connection with West Cork through his brother, Rev. William 
Stewart, who served as magistrate in Clonakilty.5 William is first recorded here 
in 1799,6 and in 1803 he was among those responsible for the arrest of Dr 

A HISTORICAL OVERVIEW OF 
BEECHGROVE HOUSE 

Clíodhna O’Leary

Historical Overview of Beechgrove House 



288 289

Clíodhna O’Leary Historical Overview of Beechgrove House 

William Callanan and William Todd Jones for their involvement in the United 
Irishmen at the time of Robert Emmet’s rising.7 William Stewart held land 
at Kilgarriff, Clonakilty, from c. 1800;8 this farm was known as Wellfield and 
the associated house was later called Kilgarriff House.9 William was married 
firstly to Elizabeth Townsend of Clogheen and later to Jane, widow of Thomas 
Hungerford of Cahermore.10 

The year 1807 saw the opening in Clonakilty of a school house, with 
enclosed garden and playground, which was funded by Lord Shannon who 
made Henry Wilson Stewart its master. In a report on classical schools 
produced by the Board of Education, it was stated that the school was 
‘met with great encouragement in consequence of the character of the 
present Master [Stewart]’ and was described as ‘one of the largest and most 
reputable endowed Classical Seminaries in the South of Ireland’.11 Horatio 
(Horace) Townsend of Derry House, Rosscarbery, wrote that the school bore 
‘honourable testimony to the master’s exertions. The improvement of the boys 
in manners, as well as learning, has already given such general satisfaction, 

that within a very short space the number of boarders has increased from 
twelve to fifty’.12 Stewart expanded the school accommodation so that it was 
capable of housing up to 100 boarders and erected a spacious schoolroom 
next to the original schoolhouse.13 From 1827 to 1838, Stewart was admitted 
to the vicarages of Kilcoe and Cleere, which had a combined Protestant 
population of just under 250. From 1838 until his death, he was rector and 
vicar of Templeomalus and served for some time as the stipendiary curate of 
Castleventry, while also serving as vicar of Tomdeely, Co. Limerick. Stewart, 
like his brother, was connected to the Townsends, being married to Grace 
(c. 1777–1856), daughter of Rev. Edward Synge Townsend (1741–1819), and 
Elisabeth née Townsend (c. 1742–1831). Stewart and Townsend had three 
sons, two of whom, Henry and Edward, also entered into holy orders.14 

It is possible that from the time of Stewart’s instatement as schoolmaster 
in Clonakilty he was residing in Lower Tawnies Cottage though this author 
has found no substantive proof and it remains unclear precisely when the 
house was erected. The first known reference linking Stewart to this townland 
comes in 1824 in Pigot’s Directory, which simply lists the clergyman at ‘Lower-
tawnies’. He was then curate of Kilgarriffe Church in Clonakilty, during which 
time Horatio Townsend was vicar.15 The Tithe Applotment Books (1823–37) 
record Stewart renting over 27 acres of ‘good’ land at ‘Taunies’ valued at £1 
15s.16 Samuel Lewis in 1837 lists ‘Taunies Cottage of the Rev. Dr. Stewart’ 
among the six principal seats of the parish;17 this is the first known reference 
to the cottage itself. In the same year, Stewart advertised the house, and its 
accompanying 29 acres, for letting.18 Perhaps no successful tenants were found 
because in 1840 Stewart of ‘Lower Tawnies’ was listed among those elected as 
Clonakilty’s first Town Commissioners.19 The following year, ‘Lower Tawnies 
Cottage’ appeared on the first edition Ordnance Survey (OS) map which 
shows park/woodland surrounding an extensive building though not one as 
large as  nearby Fernhill House, Kilgarriff House or Bellevue, while it also 
lacked a gate lodge, present on these other estates. 

Between 1844 and 1846, Stewart is listed at Lower Tawnies in various trade 
directories,20 but in August 1846 he again advertised the property, with its 
32 acres, for lease. The advertisement stated that the house had been ‘much 
improved lately, is roomy and commodious, and the Out Offices suitable’.21 In 
an 1847 tenure book, Stewart is recorded as renting Lower Tawnies Cottage, 

Fig. 1: Fire in Beechgrove House, 16 June 2017  
(Photo: courtesy of Dr Jason Van Der Velde of West Cork Rapid Response).
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offices and 32 acres of land from the Earl of Shannon for £60.22 The lease 
was for ‘3 lives’, with twelve years taken, which would suggest it commenced 
in 1835 though we know Stewart was resident in the townland of Tawnies 
Lower for more than a decade before this. It also reveals that Stewart was, in 
turn, leasing a house and garden on the estate to Denis Carty. An 1848 house 
book again records Stewart at Lower Tawnies Cottage and this gives us a good 
impression of the house. It comprised an original modest structure measuring 
23'6" long, 18' wide and 10'6'' high with eight sizeable additions, including a 
particularly large one at 55'6'' long and 21' wide, as well as a porch.23 There 
was also a fowl house, pigsty, stable, cow houses, cart house, dairy, turf and 
mangle storehouse, as well as a privy. In total, the buildings were valued at £18 
8s 8d. In an 1849 field book, Stewart has 33 acres of land in Tawnies Lower 
valued at £42 1d. By the time of Griffith’s Valuation, he was renting over 33 
acres of land at Tawnies Lower from the Earl of Shannon, valued at £42 while 
the buildings were valued at £13 15s, and Stewart, in turn, was leasing a house 
and garden on the property to Daniel McCarthy with a total value of 10s.24 

One of the last references to Stewart at ‘Lower Taunies’ can be found in 
Slater’s Directory of 1856.25 On 30 September of that year, Stewart’s wife, Grace, 
died at Lower Tawnies Cottage, aged eighty,26 while Stewart himself died the 
following year on 17 April at the age of eighty-four.27 After his death, William 
Stewart, ‘M.R.C.S.E., Administrator’ requested a meeting ‘at my residence, 
Lower Tawnies’ with Stewart’s creditors.28 As stated above, Stewart had three 
sons – the clerics Henry and Edward – and while we cannot be certain of 
the name of the third, it is probable that it was this man, William, who was 
evidently living in Lower Tawnies Cottage at the time. 

A gap in our knowledge means that it is unclear who lived in Lower 
Tawnies Cottage over the next five years.29 Certainly by 1862, the estate was in 
the ownership of George Ronaldson (c. 1823–85). He was recorded at ‘Lower 
Tawnies’ or more frequently ‘Tawnies Cottage’ in various sources between 
1862 and 1881.30 However, confusion arises as two properties in Clonakilty 
were called ‘Tawnies Cottage’ in the second half of the nineteenth century. 
The other house boasting this name is located on the boundary between the 
townlands of Tawnies Upper and Tawnies Lower, and is named ‘Bellevue’ 
on the OS map of 1841 but renamed ‘Tawnies Cottage’ on the OS map of 
1900. This property was substantially larger than Lower Tawnies Cottage. 

The address of a John Donovan was recorded as ‘Tawnies Cottage’ in various 
sources from the 1860s to 1870s.31 However, these must refer to the other 
property as John Donovan was listed at ‘Belview’ in Guy’s Directory of 1875–
76.32 We can therefore say with some confidence that it was Ronaldson, and not 
Donovan, who was living at Lower Tawnies Cottage. 

Ronaldson of Haddington, Scotland, appears to have relocated to Clonakilty 
in the late 1840s.33 In 1849, he married local woman Jane Toohig (c. 1823–1909) 
at the Methodist church in Clonakilty.34 Ronaldson owned the mill at Millville 
on Western Road, Clonakilty, which, in 1851, successfully tendered to supply 
the new workhouse with oaten straw at 23s per ton.35 The mill was placed for 
sale in 1861.36 In 1876, it is documented that Ronaldson owned over 131 acres 
of land, which was valued at £77 10s.37 As well as being a significant landowner, 
he worked as an insurance agent for Life Association of Scotland.38 His other 
responsibilities included overseeing the applications for the staffing of, and 
enlistment of students to, ‘Clonakilty Endowed School’ in Shannon Square (now 
Emmet Square).39 Ronaldson was also interested in local governance, becoming an 
elected member of the Clonakilty Board of Guardians and a town commissioner 
who was heavily involved in drainage, sewage and waterworks in the town.40 
He was active in church affairs and was one of a number of Presbyterians who 
finalised the lease for the new Presbyterian church in Clonakilty (now the post 
office), built 1861 with the Earl of Shannon.41 In a statement on the history of 
Presbyterianism in Clonakilty, Ronaldson was described as ‘for many years one 
of the most respected and liberal members of this congregation’.42 

The name change from Lower Tawnies Cottage to Beechgrove was 
possibly due to Bellevue adopting the name Tawnies Cottage, and the first 
known reference to ‘Beechgrove’ appears in an 1882 advertisement selling the 
house and 47 acre farm in Tawnies Lower with yearly rent of £88, as well as 
the neighbouring farm in the townland of Miles (137 acres) with yearly rent 
of £78.43 It is stated that these two farms are ‘in the biggest state of cultivation, 
with every convenience of residence, farm buildings, fences, gates, water, 
etc.’.44 The ‘two splendid farms’ and ‘gentleman’s residence’ were auctioned 
at Beechgrove on 19 September 1882, while the household furniture, cattle, 
horses, pigs, donkeys, hay, corn, farm implements and machinery were 
auctioned three months later.45 In the advert for the house auction, the 
property is described as follows: 
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… a charming residence called “Beechgrove,” having pleasant sunny 
aspect, handsome Conservatory, Porch, Vinery, &c. The House 
contains Drawingroom, Dining, and 5 Bed-rooms, Kitchen, Pantries, 
Sculleries, Servants’ Apartments, enclosed Yard, Stalls for 13 Cows, 
4 Horse Stables, Harness House, Potato and other Houses, large 
Garden, stocked with every description of fruit and vegetables; nice 
Avenue approach. The Grounds are well sheltered with ornamental 
Trees and Shrubs which are registered as Vendor’s Property.46 

Ronaldson and his wife, Jane, moved to Barnhall in the townland of 
Parsonstown between Celbridge and Leixlip, Co. Kildare, where he died from 
heart disease on 25 January 1885, aged sixty-two.47 Jane died at her home 
of Morningside Park in Edinburgh in 1909.48 It is not clear who purchased 
Beechgrove in 1882 and, while we know that the present building was built 
in 1887, due to another gap in our knowledge we do not know by whom it 
was erected. Despite the label ‘Beechgrove’ being used in the late 1800s, the 
name ‘Lower Tawnies Cottage’ passed from the earlier dwelling to the present 
building, as it was so named on the OS map of 1900. By this time, two foot 
bridges had been erected to the south of the house; the one closer to it crossed 
a millrace associated with Millville and the other crossed the River Fealge.

Certainly by the late 1800s, the Kingston family was living at Beechgrove. 
The name ‘Beechgrove’ occurs on the headstone of Paul Kingston in St 
Matthew’s churchyard, Drimoleague, who died in 1898 (Fig. 2). Paul was 
an elder brother of Barnabas Kingston (c. 1837–1918) who was listed at 
Beechgrove in various sources from 1903.49 We can glean more about the 
Kingstons and Beechgrove from census returns. Along with his wife Mary (b. 
circa 1852), listed as a housekeeper, Barnabas, a farmer and the landholder, was 
living on the estate in 1901 with his two adult sons (Frank and Richard) and 
two adult daughters (May and Madge), as well as a servant, Margaret Collins.50 
Excepting the Catholic servant, it was a Methodist household. Beechgrove 
House then had at least ten rooms with eight windows to the front and was 
deemed a first-class house.51 There were also twelve outhouses: two stables, a 
coach house, two cow houses, a calf house, a dairy, a piggery, a fowl house, a 
boiling house, a barn and a shed.52 

In 1906, Barnabas sold his 296 acre farm at Lakemount, Enniskeane, for 
£3,210 to Leslie Arnott Johnson of Laragh House, west of Bandon,54 but even 
after this sizeable sale the Kingstons retained some land east of Enniskeane.55 In 
1907, Barnabas got a good price of £600 for two of his fields at Tawnies Lower, 
comprising over 12 acres, which he sold to R. J. Helen.56 This is presumably 
the Church of Ireland farmer and cattle trader, Richard James Helen, who 
then resided on Sovereign Street (now Pearse Street), Clonakilty.57

The 1911 census records the same Kingston family members in Tawnies 
Lower but the servant, Margaret Collins, had been replaced by Mary Barrett, 

Fig. 2: Headstone in St Matthew’s churchyard, Drimoleague, marking the graves of Paul 
Kingston, Beechgrove, and his mother Margaret (Photo: author 2017).53 
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and Denis O’Mahony had been taken on as a farm servant.58 By this time, the 
number of rooms in the house had been reduced slightly and there were then 
seven windows to the front;59 the apparent loss of a window during the decade 
between the two censuses can probably be explained by the insertion of a 
porch, the remains of which are visible today. The number of outhouses had 
also been reduced to six: a stable, a cow house, a calf house, a dairy, a piggery 
and a fowl house.60 Barnabas was then leasing a two-roomed, second-class 

house, a piggery and a fowl house in Tawnies Lower to a gardener, Daniel 
Collins, and his family.61 

Barnabas died in 1918 and the beneficiaries of his will were Richard Willis 
and Richard Kingston, his son.62 Willis is likely the fellow Methodist residing 
in Garranecore, Clonakilty, at the time of the 1901 and 1911 censuses.63 
Barnabas’ wife, Mary, died in 1924 of ‘Chronic Indigestion, Anaemia, 
Peritonitis following Perforate Gastric Ulcer’.64 None of their four surviving 
children married and their eldest son, Frank, a farmer, died in 1927 aged 
fifty-four.65 Upon Barnabas’ death, the property at Beechgrove passed to his 
son Richard, also a farmer and member of the Clonakilty Farmers’ Union.66 
In 1917, in the midst of World War I, at a meeting of the Clonakilty Urban 
District Council, Richard agreed to donate 13 acres under the Allotment 
Scheme in an effort to address the food crisis but many local labourers present 
objected to the land being too far from their residences.67 In 1934 at the age 
of fifty-eight, Richard died as a result of an appendix abscess and, like his 
mother, peritonitis, i.e. inflammation of abdominal tissue.68 He left his estate 
to his sister Margaret Kate (Madge).69 It seems that Madge (b. circa 1882) 
lived with her sister Mary (May) in Beechgrove House until their deaths in 
1950 and 1952 respectively. While Madge was noted as a farmer on her death 
certificate,70 May was described as an ‘invalid’ dying as a result of ‘Paralysis 
agitans’, i.e. Parkinson’s Disease.71 Barnabas, his wife Mary and their children 
Paul, Frank, Richard, Madge and May were all buried in St Matthew’s 
churchyard, Drimoleague, in the same plot as Barnabas’ brother, Paul, and 
their mother Margaret (Fig. 4). Madge left her effects to Harry Bennett (better 
known as ‘Hal’), a Methodist farmer from Ballyduvane House, just west of 
Clonakilty, who had helped the Kingstons on the farm for many years, and to 
Walter Chiddick, a business manager from Western Road, Clonakilty.72 The 
beneficiaries of May’s will were Walter Chiddick and Thomas Bennett, mill 
owner at Millville, Clonakilty.73 All household goods, furniture and farming 
implements owned by the Kingstons were sold off in a large sale at Beechgrove 
following her death.74 

It is the Bennetts who are most commonly linked to Beechgrove in living 
memory. In 1952, Harry inherited the house and accompanying 32 acre 
farm.76 In 1954, he was letting Beechgrove House and, during this time, Cork 
County Council acquired 2 acres of the Beechgrove estate in order to develop 

Fig. 3: Barnabas Kingston with his wife Mary and daughter Madge  
(Photo: courtesy of Heather Ridgeway née Bennett). 
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a graveyard on the site of what was to become St Mary’s Cemetery.77 Harry 
and his wife Hester moved to Beechgrove in 1958 (Fig. 5), when their son 
John married Ruth née Stanley and took over the farm at Ballyduvane. Harry 
used the land at Beechgrove predominantly for beef farming, rearing prize-
winning Hereford and Aberdeen Angus cattle.78 He took an active role in 
local agricultural activities, becoming Chairman of the West Cork National 
Farmers’ Association in the early 1960s,79 and for nearly half a century he was 
an officer with the Clonakilty Agricultural Society.80 For more than a decade, 
he employed Mike Donovan of Ballyduvane as caretaker and gardener of 

Beechgrove and, to a lesser extent, Ballyduvane. Before this, Mike had worked 
as a ‘ganger’ for Cork County Council but retired from this job c. 1948.81 In 
1967, Hester died at Beechgrove and Harry died in 1971 (Fig. 6).82 By this time 
their daughter Jean, a former bank clerk and social worker, had returned to 
manage the farm and subsequently ran Beechgrove as a guesthouse (Fig. 7).83 

Fig. 4: Broken headstone in St Matthew’s churchyard, Drimoleague, marking the graves of 
Barnabas and Mary Kingston, Beechgrove, and their children (Photo: author 2017).75 

Fig. 5: Harry and Hester Bennett, 1921, on the occasion of their honeymoon  
(Photo: courtesy of Heather Ridgeway née Bennett). 
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stage, on 16 June 2017, Beechgrove House fell victim to a maliciously set fire 
that destroyed the roof. But what is now to become of Beechgrove House?

Legal Protection and Architectural Observations
Beechgrove House is a listed building on the Record of Protected Structures,86 
meaning that it is protected under section four of the Planning and 
Development Act, 2000. In theory, this entails that the owner, in this case Cork 
County Council, is legally obliged to prevent the building from becoming 
endangered through damage or neglect. Regrettably, there was no real effort 
made to preserve Beechgrove over the past decade and a half, nor was there any 
attempt at sufficient surveillance, and so the current state of the building is the 

Fig. 6: Headstone in St Mary’s Cemetery, Clonakilty, marking the graves of  
Hester and Harry Bennett (Photo: author 2017).

Fig. 7: Harry Bennett with his daughter Jean  
(Photo: courtesy of Heather Ridgeway née Bennett). 

The six-bedroom house and 14 acres with its courtyard and stables were 
placed for sale in 2000. Its surviving period features then included marble 
fireplaces, ceiling cornices and working window shutters.84 It was bought by 
Cork County Council, and the house has remained unoccupied ever since. 
Plans to develop the building as the municipal district offices never came 
to fruition but some of the adjoining land was subsumed into the Gaelscoil 
Mhichíl Uí Choileáin development, which opened in 2013. The building and 
the surrounding grounds were used for storage of road signs and such by 
the Council, but being left idle the condition of the house and surrounding 
outhouses deteriorated considerably. It also attracted antisocial behaviour and, 
despite the entrance being fenced off, was easily accessible to eager teens. The 
estate has been receiving much attention over the past two years as plans are 
afoot to develop fifty-six housing units on the site.85 During the pre-planning 
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consequence of such inaction. Unfortunately, the Council failed to learn from 
the mistakes regarding the care of the privately owned, nineteenth-century 
Good Shepherd Convent on Sunday’s Well and the eighteenth-century 
Vernon Mount, near Douglas, which were destroyed by fire in 2012 and 2016 
respectively.87 Each fire is heralded as the ‘wake-up call’ needed to improve the 
protection of derelict historic buildings, and yet even more recently than the 
Beechgrove incident, on 4 July, a fire engulfed the nineteenth-century, HSE-
owned St Kevin’s Asylum on Lee Road in Cork.88

As well as being listed on the Landed Estates Database,89 Beechgrove House 
was surveyed by the National Inventory of Architectural Heritage (NIAH) in 
recent years, which commented on its ‘fine slate roof ’.90 Much of the following 

description is informed by their records. Beechgrove House is a detached 
L-plan four-bay, two-storey house. The remains of a porch are visible to the 
front (south elevation), which was probably erected between 1901 and 1911 
(discussed above). The walls to the front and sides feature lined-and-ruled 
rendering. The exposed rubble limestone wall to the rear (north) elevation 
has a rendered stringcourse, above which is a rendered pediment in a classical 
style. Centrally positioned within the pediment is the oval ‘1887’ date plaque 
set in a moulded surround. The front door opening is round-headed, while 
there is a camber-headed door opening with red-brick voussoirs to the rear. 
The window openings, with rendered sills, are generally square-headed with 
some camber-headed examples to the rear; some timber sliding sash windows 
have survived but most of the window openings are boarded up. The building’s 
hipped and pitched ‘fine’ slate roof was ravaged in the fire this year though 
its rendered chimneystacks survived. The building will undoubtedly rapidly 

Fig. 8: Beechgrove House in recent decades when in the ownership of the Bennetts  
(Photo: courtesy of Heather Ridgeway née Bennett). 

Fig. 9: Beechgrove House following the fire, view from the southeast (Photo: author).
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decay further following the fire and due to its exposure to the elements. 
However, the house still retains some important historic architectural features, 
lending all the more urgency to the need for its conservation.

This was possibly the home of Daniel Collins and his family, listed in the 1911 
census (see above). Also on the site is a nineteenth-century cast-iron water 
pump exhibiting fine craftsmanship. 

Fig. 10: Outbuildings to rear of Beechgrove House, view from the north (Photo: author). Fig. 11: Various outbuildings to north and east of Beechgrove House (Photo: author).

The house is not only of importance as a building in itself; its curtilage, 
including associated outbuildings and other features, lends to its historic 
significance. Nearby are a number of substantial vernacular outbuildings with 
slate roofs, some attached to Beechgrove House; some may predate it and 
relate to the earlier dwelling on the site. They are in various states of disrepair. 
A two-storey barn displays camber-headed door openings and square-headed 
window openings with red brick voussoirs like those visible on the main 
house. Of especial interest is a detached single-storey outbuilding to the west 
of Beechgrove House: its walls are rendered, as is its chimney stack, it has a 
hipped slate roof, a square-headed door opening with timber battened door 
and a square-headed window ope with slate sill and timber casement window. 

Conclusion
A historic house of this type with its rural character, on the edge of the 
town, and in public ownership, is highly unusual. But it is the retention of 
its outbuildings and other associated historic features that make the site 
remarkable: the survival of such an extensive array of nineteenth-century 
farm buildings is increasingly rare in the West Cork landscape. This, coupled 
with the history of both the original Lower Tawnies Cottage and the later 
Beechgrove House, as well as the fascinating stories of its various occupants, 
make it not only of local but regional significance. It is anticipated that as 
Beechgrove enters its next chapter, with its upcoming housing development, 
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the house and associated buildings will be conserved and maintained in a 
manner that respects and preserves its historic character. 
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ERRATA AND ADDENDUM 
FOR VOLUME 1, 2015 

Article:  de Bhailís, C. 2015. ‘Alfred Elmore’s religious paintings’.  Clonakilty 
Historical and Archaeological Journal 1, pp. 48-60.

Error: An error arose at the printing stage. In the main body of the text, there 
are two no. 10 superscripts. The first of these relates correctly to endnote 10; the 
second relates to endnote 11. Consequently, endnote 11 and all further endnotes 
do not correspond with the superscript numbers in the body of the text, i.e. no. 
11 superscript relates to endnote 12, no. 12 superscript relates to endnote 13, etc. 
with the last superscript number (32) in the text referring to endnote 33.

Article: Tuipéar, T. 2015. ‘A brief note on Clonakilty’s linen hall’. Clonakilty 
Historical and Archaeological Journal 1, pp. 217-20.

Additional Note: As a result of this publication, it is now possible to identify 
the individuals in Fig. 2 captioned ‘Tourists at Wheel of Fortune, Clonakilty, 
1950s. In background note new two-storey corner extension on Houlihan’s 
bakery’. These are as follows:  children standing L–R: Tom Maguire, Garry 
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